ABSTRACT

What Does Leadership Look Like on Twitter? Understanding Perceptions of

Transformational Leadership Through Social Media Use

Harrison G. DeHay, M.A.

Advisor: David W. Schlueter, Ph.D.

Transformational Leadership is a leadership style that has been studied since 1978

and continues to be a style that is currently being researched. At its core transformational

leadership is a process in which the leader engages alongside their followers in order to

inspire and increase the morale for those in the organization. While the transformational

leadership style is customarily studied in a real life dyad, social media platforms like

Twitter can give transformational leaders the opportunity to inspire and increase morale

in a digital world. This study seeks to identify perceptions of transformational leadership

through social media use. The results of this study indicate that there is a significant

correlation between perceptions of transformational leadership and use of Twitter by an

individual's leader and a marginally significant correlation between Twitter use and

communication satisfaction in the workplace.

What Does Leadership Look Like on Twitter? Under	erstanding Perceptions of Transformationa
Leadership Through So	cial Media Use

by

Harrison G. DeHay, B.A.

A Thesis

Approved by the Department of Communication

David W. Schlueter, Ph.D., Chairperson

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Baylor University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Arts

Approved by the Thesis Committee	
David W. Schlueter, Ph.D., Chairperson	
Blair W. Browning, Ph.D.	
Sara J. Stone, Ph.D.	

Accepted by the Graduate School

May 2016

J. Larry Lyon, Ph.D., Dean

Copyright © 2016 Harrison G. DeHay

All rights reserved

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
DEDICATION	vii
CHAPTER ONE	
Introduction	1
Transformational Leadership	2
Twitter Today	3
Importance of Leadership in the Virtual World	5
CHAPTER TWO	7
Methodology	7
Participants and Procedures	7
CHAPTER THREE	10
Results	10
Table 3.1	11
CHAPTER FOUR	12
Implications	14
Future Research Considerations	16
Limitations	17
APPENDIX A	20
Recruitment Email	20
APPENDIX B	21
Twitter Use and Transformation Leadership Surveys	21
BIBLIOGRAPHY	26

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. Correlations	12
1 aut 5.1. Cuttetations	1 4

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. David Schlueter for his leadership and guidance throughout this endeavor of my first research project. I am grateful for his constant and helpful presence during these semesters and this project, and for his personal example of leadership. I would also like to thank Dr. Blair Browning and Dr. Sara Stone for their ideas and opinions on this research. This study would not be complete without their feedback. Finally, I would like to thank my family for all of their love, support, and prayers during the research and writing of this study. I would not be able to even begin such a big endeavor without the love and support they have shown me during these semesters.

# **DEDICATION**

To Alethia Chappell DeHay, thank you for the countless cups of coffee, the words of encouragement, and the hours of support

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### Introduction

Transformational leadership continues to be an immensely popular model of leadership for both its practical value and theoretic richness (Lowe & Gardner, 2001). While transformational leadership was initially developed to explain outstanding political leadership, it is now being applied routinely to describe outstanding leadership in various contexts most notably the for-profit organizations. "Transformational leadership is the process whereby a person engages with others and connects which raises the level of motivation and morality in both the leader and the follower" (Burns 1978). The goal of the transformational leadership model, according to the creator of the concept MacGregor Burns, is for "leaders and followers to help each other to advance to a higher level of morale and motivation" (Burns 1978).

Transformational leadership has been studied primarily within the context of face-to-face communication in which leaders inspire members to adopt new elevating goals through the leader's identification power and rhetorical skill. However, leadership no longer only occurs in the vacuum of face-to-face settings. Communication technologies in the form of smart phones, intranets, and social media platforms now afford leaders continuous opportunities for engagement with members previously inaccessible.

One social media platform that seems especially well suited for transformational leadership is Twitter. Twitter as a communication platform gives leaders the means to disarm crisis skillfully (Gruber, Smerek, Thomas-Hunt & James, 2015), create positive brand loyalty with customers, and forge meaningful relationships with members

(Korzunski, 2015). However, what is surprising is that many leaders don't tweet or don't view social media platforms as valuable to their leadership effectiveness (Korzunski, 2015). More research can be done in order to know more about how leadership is affected by social media. Therefore, the goal of this research is to investigate how social media use affects the perceptions that members have of their leaders' transformational abilities. While there is already research being done on leadership and social media, this study presents the opportunity to further dive into and expand our perceptions of transformational leadership through the lens of Twitter.

# Transformational Leadership

Research on transformational leadership is robust. Two of the pioneers in transformational leaders were Bass and Avolio (1987). They argue that transformational leaders are charismatic individuals who can motivate their followers to get on board with their cause (Bass and Avolio 1997) and are able to create an emotional bond with their followers. (Men 2012) Transformational leadership is also seen as more positive leadership style than most other forms of leadership because of its social support component. (Rowold and Rohmann 2009; Men 2012b) In their study on transactional and transformational styles of leadership, Man and Stacks (2014) found that transformational leadership had a significant positive effect on organizational reputation both directly and indirectly through the empowerment of the employees.

Transformational leadership is also both a product and a process. Considerable research has discovered the foundational dimensions of transformation leadership including charisma, inspiration, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Bass 1990). However, transformational leadership is also a communicative process that

can be developed through training (Bass 1981). How can managers and supervisors develop from transactional to transformational leaders? One explanation may very well be Twitter. Leaders today face a radically different leadership context. More needs to be known about how leaders can develop their transformational qualities by taking advantage of the digital age and constructing an active presence with members on Twitter.

# Twitter Today

It goes without saying that Twitter is a popular communication tool in society. For example, research on Twitter use has discovered its connection to the fields of journalism and athletics. According to a survey conducted by the Pew research group (Barthel and Shearer 2015), two-thirds of U.S. adults get their news from Twitter. This makes Twitter one of the most accessed daily news sources. In their study on the relationship between broadcasters and their followers on Twitter, Xu and Feng (2014) proposed that journalists function as gatekeepers of information on social media platforms like Twitter. They found journalists who were featured on television were reached out to more by their followers than those who wrote for newspapers. They also found that twenty-one percent of those who reached out and reached out more than once was because of an interpersonal greeting given by the journalists. There is a significant relationship between followers wanting engagement from their preferred journalists on Twitter.

Another cohort who actively uses Twitter to reach and connect with their fans are athletes. Ruggeiro (2000) argues that the Internet gives individuals the opportunity to customize their communication activity around particular audiences. For example,

Twitter gives athletes the chance to post what they want, and in return, reply to who they want to. Clavio and Cooper (2010) found that individuals use Twitter in order to stay up to date with, and learn more about the day-to-day interactions of retired athletes. In their content analysis of athletes tweets, Hambrick et al (2010) found that athletes mainly used Twitter for two different things: to stay connected with their family and friends by sharing personal information with them; and, tweeting about their non-sport-related activities such as meals they have eaten or what show they were attending. This was also observed in Walsh et al. (2013) and their research on the understanding of brand personality amongst social media users and non-users. In their research they found that followers of a sporting event on a social media platform understood and agreed with the personality items listed by the sporting event more than non-followers. Once again there is a clear need for the understanding of leaders and their actions via shared communication. In order to connect with their followers, athletes bring themselves down to a personal level with their followers much like a transformational leader.

Transformational leaders should be able create a bond with their followers on Twitter much like journalists and athletes have been seen to do. In his study on the use of Twitter to manage public relations, Hwang (2012) looked at the use of Twitter by CEOs and the CEOs use of transformational leadership via a survey of students. Hwang found that participants were fond of CEOs and their use of Twitter, and they responded encouragingly to the use of transformational leadership. Here the use of social media is directly correlated to the positive perception of the leader of the organization, and his or her leadership structure. Subordinate fulfillment (Ross and Offermann, 1997) and commitment to the organization (Basu and Green 1997) were also positivity influenced

by transformational leaders. Leadership at its core is a negotiated relationship. This give and take between members and leaders can also be seen in interactions on Twitter just as they occur in the actual workplace. Much like athletes and journalists bring themselves down to a personal level with their followers, a leader may benefit from Twitter as well by constructing meaningful relationships with their followers on Twitter.

## Importance of Leadership in the Virtual World

Ahlquist (2014) used the social change model to advocate the need for both digital leadership and digital literacy in our contemporary leaders. She created ten competencies of a digital leader, with the majority of these competencies following under a category of connectedness with their followers. These include awareness of emerging technology, sorting accurate information, self-awareness, establishing boundaries, self-branding, building a learning network, online encounter resolution, and "using social media for social good" (Ahlquist 2014 pg. 59) Preece and Shneiderman (2009) presented a framework of "Reader-to-Leader" which focuses on leaders in the digital world. They view leadership as a higher calling. Leaders are called to make those around them better, stop individuals from being mistreated, and to make sure new members feel welcomed.

Sheer and Chen (2003) investigated Intranet use and tried to find a correlation between transformational leadership and their Intranet use. Intranet is the internal application of the Internet within an organization. Sheer and Cheen found that supervisors who used the intranet to conduct communication in their organization tended to be viewed as transformational leaders. These leaders were perceived more favorably by their subordinates and stayed in the company longer. "The more frequently they (intranet users who were superiors) used the intranet, the higher their transformational

leadership ratings were." (Sheer & Chen 2003: p, 128) There is a need for leaders to develop an Internet presence, and it is clear that there are potential leaders using the platform already, but this relationship should be more fully explored. Organizations can benefit from a two-way, employee-centered, and responsive symmetrical communication system to guide daily communication practices and optimize employee communication

Twitter gives individuals the opportunity to stand up and become leaders in a world outside the one they previously lived in their organizations. Twitter can increase their credibility and transformational qualities as leaders in the eyes of their followers. It can possibly increase transformational leadership opportunities by constructing an employee-centered system of communication, which develops the leader-member relationship and heightens levels of communication satisfaction members have with their organizations. In order to understand how it works, the actions that make up a leader in the Viral World must be uncovered. Four hypotheses will be tested in this study as a way to more fully investigate the connections between Twitter and perceptions of transformational leadership.

# Hypotheses:

- H1 There will be a positive correlation between media use by leaders and member perceptions of their transformational leadership abilities.
- H2 There will be a positive correlation between social media use and perceptions of transformational leadership.
- H3 There will be a positive correlation between communication satisfaction in the organization and perceptions of transformational leadership.
- H4 There will be a positive correlation between leader/member Twitter use and personal member Twitter use.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

# Methodology

## Participants and Procedures

The participants in this survey were both men and women who were currently employed fulltime in an organization and have at least one boss (N=139). This survey was open to any individuals above the age of 18, regardless of ethnicity or educational degree, as long as they were currently employed fulltime. This study was looking for individuals who have at least one manager because that is the relationship that was being studied, providing us a purposeful sampling design. The study was approved by Baylor IRB.

The survey was sent out through many different venues to provide a snowball sample. The researcher contacted participants whom he previously knew, who meet the criteria stated in the participants' section, asking them to forward it to everyone they know inside of their organization (see APPENDIX A for a copy of the email). The researcher hoped to share this survey online on Twitter, with hopes to reach individuals there as well. Clayton (2014) did this in his research on Twitter and its impact on relationships. His survey was picked up by the Huffington Post giving him over 580 Twitter respondents for his research. Using an online survey on Qualtrics increased the likelihood that responses by subjects participating in the research will remain anonymous.

This research controlled for four variables: perceptions of transformational leadership, social media usage, leader social media use, satisfaction with organizational communication.

## Individual Twitter Use

Individual Twitter use was operationalized using Chen's "Connectedness on Twitter Measure." The five-item measure addresses subjects' feelings towards other users, how they fit in on Twitter, how they connect on Twitter, how they communicate with others on Twitter, and finally if they belong on Twitter. These items were answered on 5-point Likert-like scales with five being strongly agreed and one being disagree. These items were all added together in order to create an overall measure of individual Twitter use. The internal reliability for these scales was .904 (Cronbach's alpha).

# Satisfaction with Organizational Communication

Satisfaction with communication in the organization was measured using the satisfaction with organizational integration subscale from the Downs-Hazen (1977)

Communication Satisfaction Questionnaire. This subscale is 5-items, arranged on 7-point Likert-like scales, and measures the degree of satisfaction members have with the amount of information they receive about their immediate work setting. These five items were added together to create an overall communication satisfaction score. The internal reliability for these scales was (Cronbach's Alpha = .827)

# Perceptions of Transformational Leadership

Perceptions of transformational leadership were operationalized using the Podsakoff, McKensie, Moorman, and Fetter measure (1990). This is a 21-item measure, which contains two subscales, transformational leadership and transactional leadership. The sixteen items operationalizing transformational leadership were used in the study. Subjects were instructed to think about their immediate boss/member and respond on 7-

point Likert-like scales to the sixteen items. The sixteen items were then added together to create an overall transformational leadership score. The internal reliability for these scales was .92 (Cronbach's Alpha).

## Leader's use of Twitter

Leader's use of Twitter was operationalized using Chen's "Connectedness on Twitter" 5-item measure. These items assessed the connectedness of the participant with his/her manager on Twitter. These questions were also be answered on 5-point Likert-like scales. These items were all added together in order to create an overall measure of individual Twitter use. The internal reliability for these scales was .86 (Cronbach's alpha). The survey can be seen in its totality in APPENDIX B.

#### CHAPTER THREE

#### Results

To test the hypotheses, a Pearson one-tailed correlation analysis (Table 1) was executed between Twitter use, leader Twitter use (LMT), communication satisfaction, and perceptions of transformational leadership. Three of the four hypotheses in the study were supported by statistical analysis.

Hypothesis 1 was confirmed as there was a small but statistically significant positive correlation between a leader's Twitter use and perceptions of their transformational leadership abilities (r = .16, p = .054).

Hypothesis 2 was not confirmed. A positive correlation did not emerge between members' social media use and perceptions of transformational leadership (r = .09, p = .179).

Hypothesis 3 was confirmed as there was a moderate and statistically significant correlation between communication satisfaction of members and perceptions of transformational leadership (r = .478, p = .000)

Hypothesis 4 was confirmed as there was a moderate and statistically positive correlation between leader Twitter use and personal member Twitter use (r = .328, p = .000).

Table 3.1

Correlation of Leadership Perspectives, Satisfaction, Twitter use, and LMT

Measure		Leadership	Satisfaction	Twitter Use	LMT
Leadership	Pearson	-			
	Correlation				
	Sig. (1-tailed				
Satisfaction	Pearson	.478**	-		
	Correlation				
	Sig. (1-tailed	.000			
Twitter Use	Pearson	.090	.120	-	
	Correlation				
	Sig. (1-tailed	.179	.099		
LMT	Pearson	.161	.040	.328**	-
	Correlation				
	Sig. (1-tailed	.054	.345	.000	

#### CHAPTER FOUR

#### Discussion

This study sought to find correlations between perceptions of transformational leadership and social media use. The transformational leadership model set forth by MacGregor Burns presents leadership in a mutualistic way, giving both leaders and followers a path to high morale and motivation (Burns 1978). Transformational leadership involves a social support component (Rowold and Rohmann 2009), which opens the door for the use of social media by leaders to increase their transformational abilities in the eyes of their members. Research shows that individuals find more favor in a supervisor and have a more positive perception of that individual's leadership structure if they are active on Twitter. (Hwang 2012) Transformational leadership also gives positive reputations to supervisors who individual members see as one of the two main sources of information in an organization. Newcomers look to supervisors as a primary source of job performance and satisfaction inside the organization (Hart 2012), and this study looked at the intermingling of these characteristics of transformational leaders, social media use, and organizational communication satisfaction in order to find perceptions of transformational leadership.

A survey methodology was used to discover and investigate the variables involved in the study. The individual's presence and feelings towards Twitter were measured via a Connectedness on Twitter Measure, which measures the individuals' use of Twitter, their need to connect on Twitter, and the gratification received from Twitter use. (Chen 2011) Chen created this measure in order to find active interactions on

Twitter, and how well people gratify the need to connect on certain social media platforms. This research found that Twitter "is a medium that people actively seek out to gratify a need to connect with others" (Chen 2011, p. 760) creating the idea that Twitter is a place we actively seek connections.

The second measure tests the satisfaction of the communication in the organization. Dimensions were taken from the Communication Satisfaction Questionnaire created by Downs & Hazen 1977 in order to test the relationship between individual's satisfaction of communication and their job. The corporate perspective and organizational integration dimensions were used in order to operationalize the individual's understanding of their organization's communication and their satisfaction within it. The third measure, taken from Podsakoff et al's (1990) Leader Behavior Scale operationalizes transformational leadership. Podsakoff et al's LBS is widely used in order to understand the effects of transformational leaders behaviors on their followers. Since this study is focusing on the perceptions of transformational leadership, a measure that looked at the impact of communicative behaviors was used. The fourth and final measure was created by the researcher and adapted from Chen's Connectedness on Twitter

The hypotheses for this research come from wanting to recognize the perceptions of social media use by transformational leaders. A positive correlation was hypothesized between media use by leaders and member perceptions of their transformational leader's abilities, a positive correlation between social media use and perceptions of transformational leadership, a positive correlation between communication satisfaction and transformational leadership, and finally a positive correlation between personal

Twitter use and leader Twitter use. One-tailed correlations confirmed three of the four hypotheses set forth in this research. There was significant positive correlations found in three of the four hypotheses with a small marginally significant correlation found between individual Twitter use and communication satisfaction.

## *Implications*

The use of social media platforms, specifically Twitter, has a significant influence on the relationship between members and leaders. The findings of this study can have large contributions to the understanding of social media use and its reflection on the perception of transformational leader, and why managers should or should not connect with their followers. While the research does not create a new leadership profile it adds to the literature on social media use and its use in an organizational setting.

While the main focus of this research was not to study transformational leaders but the perceptions from transformational leadership, the findings do add to the productivity of transformational leadership research, while also giving practical applications to those already leading in organizations or those who wish to become leaders. Leaders can now see how important their social media use is and the reflection of that use in the satisfaction in the organization. It is clear that Twitter use by leaders adds to the communication satisfaction in the organization.

As previously discussed in this study, transformational leadership is celebrated and practiced more than most other leadership styles because of the aspect of social support on behalf of the leader (Rowold and Rohmann 2009) and the positive effect on the organization's reputation, directly or indirectly, due to the empowerment of the employees that comes from a transformational leader. (Man & Stacks 2014) The

findings presented from this study show the implications on communication satisfaction in the organization from Twitter use.

Thirdly, the research presented expands the literature on social media use by creating a function for social media use in organizational life. Social media platforms have been shown to help organizations interact directly with the community without another group clouding their message (Saffer, Sommerfeldt, Taylor 2013) and create support outside of the social media realm (Thrope & Rinehart 2013). This study takes that research and turns it inside the organization, and suggests there is an impact from leader Twitter use on the satisfaction of communication in that organization.

The positive correlations between perceptions of transformational leadership and leader/member Twitter use are significant in that they further illuminate the development of the leader-follower relationship. These findings confirm the argument of Sheer and Chen (2003) that transformational leaders use intranet applications in order to manage their relationships with their members. Men (2012) found that transformational leaders are able to create an emotional bond with their followers. With perceptions of transformational leadership found to have a significant correlation with leader/member Twitter use, the argument can be made that the leader/member Twitter use can help create and/or manage that emotional bond. This examination provides support on how leader/member Twitter use can influence the perception of transformational leadership.

The analysis also showed the correlation between Twitter use and communication satisfaction. Flanagin and Waldeck (2004) argue that through technological advances there are now new trends in the socialization processes in organizations, and that there are a plethora of options on how to communicate. As previously stated in this study,

Korzunski (2015) found that Twitter as platform gives leaders the opportunity to create significant relationships with members. The results of this study align with these findings by signifying that the use of Twitter as a way of communicating adds to the communication satisfaction in the organization and that the use of Twitter has a positive impact on the individual.

One of the most interesting findings was the significant moderate correlation discovered between personal Twitter use and leader/member Twitter use. Research has shown that in the journalism industry readers want to engage with their favorite news personalities (Xu & Feng 2014). Additionally, research has demonstrated the desire for fans to connect more deeply with their athlete heroes on Twitter (Clavio & Cooper 2010). The findings here suggest that leadership can increase their transformational abilities in the eyes of their members through Twitter.

#### Future Research Considerations

The significant relationships found in this study suggest the importance of Twitter and opens the door for potential research. Much more research can be conducted in various non-profit or educational contexts. One could narrow the field to the use of social media and the perception of transformational leadership to clergy as an example. There might be specific situational constraints in different contexts, which may alter how the leader can embrace Twitter.

One of the other areas for future research is studying the age of both the individual and the leader in the perception of transformational leadership and social media use. Most argue that social media platforms like Twitter give new ways and means for learning and teaching (Schrader 2015), however most social media platforms

are not created for or operated with the elderly in mind (Chou, Lai, Liu 2013). Cornwell, Laumann, and Schumm (2008) looked at the social levels of those ages 57-85 and found that group to have a minimal number of social network connections. However, research has been done that found that the use of social media supplements the traditional means of communication for the elderly (Hutto, Bell, Farmer, Fausset, Harley, Nguyen, Fain 2015). While it is clear that older workers are learning how to use social media platforms. there is still an age gap in the digital world.

These findings suggest that specific occupations or age can play a crucial role and distort their holders' views on the importance of and the use of social media platforms.

Further research should investigate what role if any that different types of organization or age of the leader and the individual in understanding perceptions of transformational leadership and social media use.

#### Limitations

Some of the limitations of this research come from the methods and measures that were to be used to gather data for the study. No age was recorded for the participant or the leader in question other than the requirements for the participant to be over the age of 18, nor was the gender of the participant or the leader in question recorded.

The fourth measure that was created by the researcher from Chen's Connectedness on Twitter measure was adapted from the original. The survey was changed from questions pertaining to an individual's connectedness on Twitter to the connectedness between a leader and a member. Some of the items on the measure might ask for information that individuals do not know.

The only information that was gathered from measure three pertained to transformational leader behavior, when the questionnaire also has questions on transactional leader behavior as well. By omitting the transactional leader behavior the measure might not have been operated to its full competence. However, regardless of these limitations, the measures showed strong reliability and multiple correlations were discovered and used successfully for this research study.

**APPENDICES** 

# APPENDIX A

# Recruitment Email

Dear,
My name is Harrison DeHay and I am a graduate student at Baylor University
where I am examining leadership and social media use in organizational culture. Because
you are employed in an organization with a boss or you yourself is a boss, I am inviting
you to participate in this research study by completing the survey found on Qualtrics, the
link to the survey is at the bottom of this email.
The questionnaire should only take 30 minutes to complete at your connivance.
There is no compensation for responding nor is there any risk. The information gathered
will be kept confidential there is no place for you to leave your name. Copies of the
research will be given to my Baylor University Instructor and kept under lock and key in
my office. Participation is voluntary and you may refuse to participate.
Thank you for taking time to help me in my educational research. The data we collect
will help explore the cross section of social media and leadership to help further the reach
of our leaders.
Link to survey: [Insert Link]
Sincerely,
Harrison DeHay
Hank_DeHay@baylor.edu
David Schlueter
David Schlueter@baylor.edu

# APPENDIX B

# Twitter Use and Transformation Leadership Surveys

Q1 Think about your use of Twitter and answer these questions using a scale from strongly disagree (1) to strongly agree (5):

	1	2	3	4	5
I feel I am connected to other users on Twitter  (1)	O	0	•	•	0
I feel like I fit in on Twitter (2)	•	<b>O</b>	O	<b>O</b>	O
I have made connections to other people on Twitter (3)	0	0	•	•	0
I feel comfortable communicating with others on Twitter (4)	O	0	•	•	0
I feel like I belong in the Twitter community (5)	•	<b>O</b>	•	•	O

Q2 Think about your work environment and indicate how satisfied you are with the amount and/or quality of each kind of information using a scale from being dissatisfied to being strongly satisfied:

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Information about progress in your job (1)	<b>O</b>	O	<b>O</b>	O	<b>O</b>	<b>O</b>	<b>O</b>
Information about company policy and goals (2)	<b>O</b>	O	0	•	•	•	<b>o</b>
Information about departmenta l policies and goals (3)	0	•	0	•	•	•	<b>o</b>
Information about employee benefits and pay (4)	0	•	0	•	•	•	<b>o</b>
Information about accomplish ments and /or failures of the company (5)	0	O	0	O	0	0	•

Q3 Think about your current and immediate boss/manager when answering these questions:

	Never (1)	Rarely (2)	Sometimes (3)	Most of the Time (4)	Always (5)
Shows that he/she expects a lot from us (1)	0	0	0	0	•
Always gives me positive feedback when I preform well (2)	•	•	0	•	•
Acts without considering my feelings (3)	•	•	•	0	<b>O</b>
Paints an interesting picture of the future for our group (4)	0	0	0	0	0
Leads by "doing", rather than simply by "telling" (5)	•	•	•	•	0
Gives me special recognition when my work is very good (6)	•	•	•	•	•
Shows respect for my personal feelings (7)	0	•	0	•	0
Provides a good model for me to follow (8)	0	•	•	•	•
Behaves in a	O	O	0	O	<b>O</b>

			I		
manner thoughtful of my personal needs (9)					
Insists on only the best performance (10)	0	O	•	0	<b>O</b>
Treats me without considering my personal feelings (11)	•	•	•	•	<b>O</b>
Has a clear understanding of where we are going (12)	0	O	•	•	<b>O</b>
Commends me when I do a better than average job (13)	•	•	•	•	<b>O</b>
Will not settle for second best (14)	•	•	•	•	O
Personally compliments me when I do outstanding work (15)	•	•	•	•	<b>O</b>
Fosters collaboration among work groups (16)	•	•	•	•	<b>O</b>
Frequently does not acknowledge my good performance (17)	O	O	0	O	0
Inspires others with his/her plans for the future (18)	0	0	0	•	0

Challenges me to think about old problems in new ways (19)	0	•	0	•	•
Is able to get others committed to his/her dream (20)	•	•	•	•	0
Asks questions that prompt me to think (21)	0	0	•	•	O

Q6 Think about your boss/manager and your interactions on Twitter when answering these questions using a scale from being disagree to strongly agree:

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Neither Agree nor Disagree (3)	Agree (4)	Strongly Agree (5)
I feel I am connected to my manager on Twitter (1)	•	•	0	0	0
I have made connections to my manager on Twitter (2)	•	•	•	•	<b>o</b>
I feel comfortable communicating with my manager on Twitter (3)	•	•	•	0	0
I feel like I belong with my manager in the Twitter community (4)	0	•	•	0	<b>o</b>

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Ahlquist, J. (2014). Trending now: Digital leadership education using social media and the social change model. *Journal of Leadership Studies*, 8(2), 57–60.
- Blaszka, M. M. (2014). Examining the effects of Twitter usage on athlete brand personality (Ph.D.). Indiana University, United States -- Indiana. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxy.baylor.edu/docview/1615399071/abstract/B54 7237F74764123PQ/17?accountid=7014
- Bass, B. M. (1990). From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision. *Organizational Dynamics*, (Winter): 19-31
- Bass, B.M. and Avolio, B.J. (1997) Full range leadership development: manual for multifactor leader questionnaire, Mind Gorden INC, Menlo Park, CA
- Basu, R., &Green, S.G. (1997). Leader-member exchange and transformational leadership: An empirical examination of innovative behaviors in leader-member dyads. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*. 27(6), 447-499
- Burns, J. (1978). Leadership (p. 20). New York: Harper & Row.
- Chou, W. H., Lai, Y., & Liu, K. (2013). User requirements of social media for the elderly: a case study in Taiwan. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 32(9), 920-937.
- Clavio, G. & Kian, E.M. (2010). Uses and gratifications of a retired female athlete's Twitter followers. International Journal of Sport Communication, 3(4), 485-500.
- Clayton, R. (2014). The third wheel: the impact of Twitter use on relationship infidelity and divorce. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 17(7)
- Cornwell, B., Naumann, E.O., & Scheme, L.P., The social connectedness of older adults: a national profile, *American Sociological Review* 73(2) (2008), 185–203.
- Downs, C., & Hazen, M. (1977). A factor analysis of communication satisfaction. *Journal of Business Communication*, 14, 63-74.
- Gruber, D., Smerek, R., Thomas-Hunt, M., & James, E.(2015) The real-time power of Twitter: Crisis management and leadership in an age of social media. *Business Horizons* 58:163-172

- Hambrick, M. (2010) Understanding professional athletes' use of Twitter: A content analysis of athlete's tweets. *International Journal of Sport Communication*, 3(4).
- Hart, Z. (2012). Message content and sources during organizational socialization. *Journal of Business Communication*, 49(3). 191-209.
- Hutto, C. J., Bell, C., Farmer, S., Fausset, C., Harley, L., Nguyen, J., & Fain, B. (2015). Social media gerontology: Understanding social media usage among older adults. *Web Intelligence*. 13(1), 69-87
- Hwang, S. (2012). The strategic use of Twitter to manage personal public relations. *Public Relations Review*, 38(1), 159-161.
- Korzynski, P. (2015) Online networking and employee engagement: what current leaders do? *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 30(5), pp.582 596
- Lowe, K., Gardner, W. (2000) Ten years of the leadership quarterly: contributions and challenges for the future. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 11(4). 459-514.
- Men, L. R. (2012, March). CEO credibility, perceived organizational reputation, and employee engagement. *Public Relations Review, 38*(1), 171+. Retrieved from http://go.galegroup.com.ezproxy.baylor.edu/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA279793967 &v=2.1&u=txshracd2488&it=r&p=PPCM&asid=249e60e83289bfa2b2863ea83fe 4f68c
- Men, S. & Stacks, D. (2014). The effects of authentic leadership on strategic internal communication and employee-organization relationships. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 26(4), 301-324.
- Nolan, L. (2015). The impact of executive personal branding on non-profit perception and communications. *Public Relations Review*, 41(2), 288-292
- Pew Research Center. (2015). How do Americans use Twitter for news? Washington, DC: Barthel, M., & Shearer, E.
- Podsakoff. P., MacKenzie. S., Moorman, R., Fetter, R. (1990). Transformational leader behaviors and their effects on followers' trust in leader, satisfaction, and organizational citizenship behaviors. *Leadership Quarterly* 1(2). 107-142
- Preece, J.& Shneiderman, B.(2009). The reader-to-leader framework: motivating technology-mediated social participation, *AIS Transactions on Human-Computer Interaction (1)* 1, pp. 13-32.
- Ross. S.M.,& Offermann, L.R. (1997). Transformational leadership: Measures of personality attributes and work group performance. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 23, 1078-1086

- Rottinghaus, B. (2009). Strategic leaders: Determining successful presidential opinion leadership tactics through public appeals. *Political Communication*, 26(3), 296–316.
- Rowold, J. and Rohmann, A. (2009) Transformational and transaction leadership styles, followers' positive and negative emotions, and performance in German nonprofit orchestras, *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 20(1)
- Ruggiero, T. E. (2000). Uses and gratifications theory in the 21st century. *Mass Communication & Society*, 3(1), 3-37.
- Schmierbach, M., & Oeldorf-Hirsch, A. (2012). A little bird Told Me, so I didn't believe it: Twitter, credibility, and issue perceptions. *Communication Quarterly*, 60(3), 317–337.
- Schrader, D. E. (2015). Constructivism and learning in the age of social media: changing minds and learning communities. *New Directions For Teaching & Learning*, 2015(144), 23-35.
- Sheer. V., & Chen. L. (2003). Do superiors' intranet use predict their transformational leadership? *Asian Journal of Communication*, *13*(1). 120-136
- Stephansen, H. C., & Couldry, N. (2014). Understanding micro-processes of community building and mutual learning on Twitter: a "small data" approach. *Information, Communication & Society*, 17(10), 1212–1227.
- Thorpe, H., & Rinehart, R. (2013). Action sport NGOs in a neo-liberal context: The cases of Skateistan and Surf Aid International. *Journal of Sport & Social Issues*, *37*, 115-141.
- Walsh, P., Clavio, G., Lovell, D., & Blaszka, M. (2013). Differences in event brand personality between social media users and non-users. *Sport Marketing Quarterly*, 22, 214-223.
- Xu, W. W., & Feng, M. (2014). Talking to the broadcasters on Twitter: Networked gatekeeping in Twitter conversations with journalists. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 58(3), 420–437.
- Zhang, M. (2010). Brands all a twitter: The influences of Twitter on brands and consumers (Ph.D.). The Pennsylvania State University, United States -- Pennsylvania. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.ezproxy.baylor.edu/docview/1467542687/B547237F7 4764123PQ/10?accountid=7014